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Federal Communications Commission

Before the
Federal Communications Commission

Washington, D.C. 20554

III the Matter of

Compass Glohal. hlc.

Apparen( Liability for Forfeiture

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

File No. ER·06·111-3060

NALIAccl. No. 20983~080083

FRN No. 0009690256

FCC 0897

NOTICE OF APPARENT LIABILITY FOR FORFEITURE

Adopted: April 8. 2008

By the COll1lllissioll:

Released: April 9.2008

I. INTRODI.CTION -"
I. 111 this Notice ofApparent Liahility/or Forfeiture ("NAL') we rind lhat Compass Global.

Illc. ("Colllpass") aprarcntly violated sections 9, 225. 25 I(e)(2). and 254 of the Communications Act of
1934. as amended ('he "Act").' and sections 1.1 154. I. I 157. 52. 17(a). 52.32(a). 54. 706(a), and
64 .604(c)( 5)( iill( A) of the Comm iss ion' s ru les.' by willftilly or repea'edly Ii,i ling 10 makc Ihe requ ired
regulatory paymcnt.:; as wcll as to contribute fully and timely to the Universal Service fund ("Usr"),
TelecollllHunications Relay Service ("TRS") Fund. alld cosl recovery mechanisms for the North
American Numbering Plan ("NANP") administration and Local Number Portability ("'LNP"). Based all

our review of the facts and cirClIlIlstrmees surrounding this matter. and for the reasons disL:usscd below,
we find that Compass is apparently liable for a lotal forfeiture of$828.613.44.

II. BACKGROUND

2. The Act codified Congress's historical commitment to promote universal servicc to
ensure that consumers ill J11 regions of the nation have access to affordable, quality telCCOlnllWllicatiolls
scrviccs.3 In pClrticlilar. s('ction 254(d) of the Act requires. among other things, that "[elver),
tclecommllnicalion~ carrier [providing} interstate telecommunications services ... contribute, on an
equitable and nondiscrirninatol"}' basis, to tht:: speciflc. predictable, and sufficient mechunisms csw.blished
by the COlllmission 10 preserve and advance universal service:'-I 1t1 implementing this Congressional
mandate, the COll1ll,issioJl directed all telecommunications carriers providing illtcrstntc
teleCOlllIllUnicJtiollS services and certain other providers of interstate telecommunications to registcr with
the COlllmission, comply \.... ith annual and quurterly filing requirements and contribute to the univcrsal

1 47 U.S.C. §§ 159. 225. 15l(C)(2), 254.

' 47 c.r.R. ~~ I. t 154. I. I 157.52.17(<1),52.32(<1),54.706(.), M.604(c)(5 )(iii)(A).

3 See 47 U.S.C, § 254 The Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended the Communicatiol1s Act of 19Jt.1. SI't>
Tclt::collllllun icalions Act of 1996. Pub. L. No. 10... -104, I 10 SiaL 56 (1996).

'47 U.S.c. § 254(0)
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service fund based ~lpon their interstate and internatiollal end-user telecommunications reyenues.s The

COIl1III ission also n:'quires certain providers orinlerstate telecommunications. including intercollllected
Voice oyer Internet Protocol (VolP) providers. 10 contribute 10 the USF.6 Failure by some providers 10

pay their share into tile usr skews the playing tield by giving non-paying providers all ecol1omic

advantage over their competitors. who must then shoulder lllore tllanlheir fair share Oflhc costs oflhc
universal service fund. The Univers:ll Service Admillistrative Company CUSAC") currcntly administers

the USP.7 USAC bills carriers each month. including Compass. based all their quarterly contribution

amounl.1( The National Exchange Carrier Association r'NECA"). which administers the TRS fund. bills
carriers each July hlsed upon their annual rcvcnue.9 Consistent with the Debt Collection Improvement

Act of 1996 ("DeIA"), IOlJSF or TRS contributions tbat bave become over 90 days delinquent ore
transferred to the COl1lmission for further action to collect the outstanding debL Il

~ 47 C.F.R. § 54.706{b). Beginning April I. 2003. currier contributions were based on a carrier's projected, rather
than historical. revenues. /d See al50 Federal-Slulf! Joinl Board on Unhersal Serl'ice. 1998 Biennial Regulatory
Re1'iew - Slreamfilll:d ConrrihJlIOr Reponing Reqlliremems Associaled wilh Admini.'ilrafion ojTdeconwllmictlliolls
Rduy Services. Nonl! Americllfl Numbering Plan, Local Number Porlahilily. WId Unin.!r.sal Service SlIpporr
Mechanisms. Telec:o"o"Illll/1icalioIl5 Services/or lndi\'idua/s with Hearing (/Ild Spel.!ch Disahililjes. and the Anll'ricam­
I\'ilb Di,'whiliries Acl (II9/)(J, AdminiJlraiion (tfdie Norlh American Numhering Plan and Nardi American
NlImhl.?l'illg Plan COSI Recovery Contribution Faclor and Fund Size. Number Resource Optillli::alioll. Telephone
Numher Porlabilily. Truth-in-Billing GIld Billing Furllla!. RepOJ1 and Order and Second Further Notice of Proposed
Rulcmaking. 17 FCC Red 24952. 24969-74, ~~ 29-39 (2002) ("II11r:rim Cantrinulion Order").

(, See 47 U.S.c. § 254(d) ("Any other provider of interstate lelecommunications may be required to contribute to the
preservation and advancement of universal scrvic~ if the public interest so requires."): Universal Service
ComribUlioll ,""tethodo/OKr. Report and Order and NOlice of Proposed Rulcmaking, 21 FCC Rcd 7518 (2006)
(exlending section ::!5<l{d) permissive authorily to require interconnected voir providers to contribute to (he USF)
("200n COlllriblliiol1 Metluul%gy Order'·), pelilirm fi;r review denil.'J, anal'(lcated ill parr 11/1 o/lrer ground".
'·ol1aJ.;c l-Io/dillgCorp. I'. FCC. 489 F.3d 1232. (D.C. Cir. 2007).

'47 C.F.R. § 54.701(<).

~ ,)·ee. e.g. FederaJ-SlaiC Joinl Board 011 Universal Sttn:ice, Sixteenth Order on Reconsideration in CC Dockel No.
96-45. Eighth Report and Order in CC Dock~t No. 96-45. a;Jd Sixth Report and Order in CC Docket No. 96-~62. 15
rcc Red 1679. 1687. ~ 18 (1999): Federal-Stak' Board all Ul1irersa/ Service. further NQ{ic~ of Proposed
Rulelllaking and Grde;. 15 FCC Rcd 19947, 19954. ~ 17 (2000): Interim COll1riblflion ()rd~r. !7 fee Rcd al 24971­
72. ~ ]5; Change.s I() the Board uJDireclOr.~ofthe Natiwwl £rcllOnge Carrier AssociUlioJ1. Ille.. Federa{-Sr(l/e
/Joard Oil Uniw!rsal Serl'ic:e, Second Order or~ Reconsideration, 12 FCC Rcd 21423, 2::!425. '13 (191.)7). Carriers
l11ust pny by the d,lle shown on Ihe invoice from the Administratol·. 47 C.F.R. § 54.711{n) ("The Commission sh<\ll
nnnouncc by Public N·)licc published in The Federal Register and all ilS website the manner ofpaymcnf and dales hy
which p<Jyments mliSl be Illade.'·) See. e.i!.• "Proposed Second Quaner 2006 Universal Service Conlribution
FaclOr:' Public Noti<:e. 21 FCC Red 2379. 2381 (Wireline Camp. Bur. 2006) ("Contribution payrnenls are due on
lhe date shown on the ladministrator] invoice.").

'J '<;...c "TRS Resources ," online aV<li!able: htlp:/IwWH'.lleca.on.!/sollrc(,,~,~-!'JSS:- A Resources 2/6.:lsp. 17 July "007.

III :-"ee Debr Colleclioll IIllp!"ovclllent Acl of 1996. Pub. L.. No.1 04-1 34, I 10 SiaL 1321. 135i'\ (I (96). In 2004. lhe
Commission adoptL'd Tules illlplementing the DCI A requiremenls. Sct! AmenJlllel1l ofParts () lind J of/he
Commission '$ Rules. neport and Order, J9 FCC Rcd 6540 (200-4) ('DC/A Order·'). In iTS Order. lhe Commission
codified procedures al47 C.P.R. § 1.1910, the "red light rute:'to extend and clarify existing policies in the
management of (he Commission'S accounts. and to withhold action on applications or other requeSls for bene filS by
delinquent debtors. and ultiln'-ltely to dismiss such <lf1pl:cations or Olher rcquesls if the delillqucllCY is not resolved
Set' 47 C.F.R. § 1.1910; DCfA Order, 19 FCC Rcd at 6S41~y5 ";i~ J- t 5. The De1A rllies specify lhal the term
"Comillission·· includes the lJSF. TRS Fund, "and any other reponing <:oll1ponellls oflhe Commission:· ,";ee-'-l7
C.F.R. § 1.1901{h). Thus,lhe Commission IHls determined thaI unptlid obligations to the USF. TRS. and the cosl
recovery mechanisms lor NANP administration arc subject to the DCIA.

11 EtTeclive July I. 2003, US;\C implemented new collection proccdures ilS required by the DCJA and Ihe
Commiss:on. Pursuant 10 those procedures, invoices for USF contribulions thai become over (continued)
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3. The: Commission is c11argcd by Congress with regulating interstate illld international
tc:lcco!llmunicatjon~; and ensuring that providers of such telecommunications comply with the
rcquirt;;ments imposed on them by the Act <Ind our rules,!:' The COlllmission also has been charged by
Congress 10 establi:oh. administer and maintain various telecommunications regulatory programs. and to
fund (Ilese programs through assessments all the telecommunications providers that benefit from them.
To accomplish these goals, the Commission t.:stablished -'a central repository of key facts about carriers"
through \vhich it could monitor the entry and operation of interstate lelecommunications providers to

ensure. among other things. that they arc qualified. do not engage in fraud. and do not evade oversight.'-~

Commission rules require that. upon entry or anticipated entry into interstate telecolll1llunications
markets. telecommunications carriers register by submitting information on FCC rorm 499-A, also
known as the annual Telecommunications Reporting Worksheet ("annua[ WorkshcclS").lJ

4. Additionally. the Commission has established specific procedures 10 administer the
1I1liversal service program. A carrier is requireu to file the FCC ronn 499-A. for the purpose of
determining its USF payrnents,J~ and. with certain exceptions. to file quarterly short-form Worksheets
("quarterly Worksh,~ets") to dctennine monthly universal service contribution amolillts. These periodic
filings trigger a dewrmination of liability, if<llly, and subsequent hilling and collection, by the entities thnt
nuministcr the regulatory programs_ For example, USAC lIses the rCVCllllC projectiolls submitted all lhc
quarterly filings to determine each carrier's universal service cOl1tribution aInoun!.lf, The Commission·s
rllle~ explicitly warn conlrihulOrs that failure to file forms or suomil payments potentially 5ubjecls them 10
enforcement action. 11

5. Tille IV of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. codi~ed at 47 U.S.c. § 225.
directs the Cornlllis~;ion to 1;1Isure that interstale al1d intrast<lte TRS are available. to the extent possible
and in the most effiGicnllllanner. to hearing-imp,lired and speech impaired individuals ill the United

(continued from previous pagc) 90 days delillquent are transferred to the Commission for further collection. See
Universal Ser.... ice Administrative Company. "lmportanllnvoicing De,u.J1incs:'
htlp:/Iwww.universalservice.orgifund-<:ldministration/colllTibutorsiunderslanding-your-invoict.:limponanl-invoicing­
dcadlincs.<lspX (last visited July 16.2007). Debt collection procedures may include further administrative dfor!s
both by rhe Commission and th~ United States Treasury or, as approprio[e. the Commission m;lY refcr the delinquenl
debt to tile Department of Justice for enforceu collection action. 47 C.F.IC § 1.1917. Collection efforts Illay resull
in additional charges, 10 Include Interest and pennltics, IlS provided under 31 U.S.c. § 3717. alld <1dministratiw
charges pursuant 10 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.1940 and 54.713. 31 c.r. R. § 185.110).

I:' S/!/!, /!,g.. -17 lJ.S.c. § 151.

l~ Sct: j/Jj[Jlemenlulior. oj the Subscriber Carrier Sdtxtion Chang!:.\" PrOl'jj'ium n.f the Teleco/1/Jl/lmit;atiolls ..leI of
J(j96. Third Report and Order and Second Order 011 Rcconsidcrntioll. 15 FCC Red 15996. l6024-26 (1000)
(..( ·urric,. Selection V,'cla··1.

11 47 cr.R_ § 6'1.119:;.

15 Upon submission ora Form 499-A registratiotl.lhe carrier is issued a filer identification number by USAC. which
is 1hen nssociated wilh fUr1her fIlings by [he company and is used 10 tmcl\. thl' carrier's contributions <1nd invoices.

1f, Individual uiliversal service cOlltribution amounts Ihat are based upon quanerly filings Jrc subjecl [0 an annual
truc-up. See Federal-SJale Joinr Board on Unltw,wl1 Ser\'ice. Petitiol1/or Reco11.~ideralionjiiedhy AT<'<: T. Report
<lud Ordel· ar,d Order 011 Reconsidemrion. 16 FCC Red 5748 (2001) ("Q/Wftt:fJy Repurting Ordl!f·'); 47 C.F.R. ~

)4.709{;J). As or-April!. 2003. USAC bl1ses a carrier's univers<ll service obligation on Ihe carrier's projected
collt:cteJ revenue rather than its historic gross-billc(i reven~e . •r..,'1!1! In/aim COlllrihlltiull On/a. 17 rTC Rcd <II

2-1969-74. ~~ 29-39.

17 47 C.F.R. ~ S·L7Il
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Stales.l~ The COlllmission established the TRS Fund to reimhurse TRS providers for the costs of
providing interstar(: TRS.1'l TRS enables persons with hearing and speech disabilitIes to communicate by
telephone with voice telephone users. TRS provides telephone access to a significant number of
Americans who. w!thoL1t it. might not bc able to make or receive calls?' Pursuant to section 64.604 orthe
COIllIll iss ion .5 rule::. every carrier providing inlerstate teiccominull icaliolls services mllst contribute to the
TRS fund.:') As di~cllssed abovc_ NECA invoices common carriers each year for thcir contribtltioll based
on their interstate rl::venucs.n and like USF contributions. outstanding TRS obligations are subject to the
DeIA')

6. III :Iddition, section 25 l(e)(I) of the Act directs the Commission to oversee Ihe
administration oft~:lecoml1lllnications numbering to ensure the availahility nfte!ephone numbers on an
equ ilable basis." ,:ect;on 251 (e)(2) of the Act requires that "[t]he cost of estahl ishing
telecOllllllunications Ilumbering administration arrangements .. ,shall be borne by alllclccomrnlillications
carriers 011 a comp~:titively neutral basis as determined by the Commission. ,,25 In carrying. out this
stattUory directive. the Commission adopted section 52.17 of its rules. which requires. among other
things. tllat all tclc(ommunications carriers contribute toward the costs of Ilumbering administratiOiI on
(he basis of their er,d-llser telecommunicaliolls revenues for the prior calendar year.21J The Commission
<llso ndoptcd section 52.32 of its rules. which requires that all telecolllmunications carriers contribute
to\vard the costs oflocalnulllber portability on Ille basis ofthcir end-user telecommunications revenues

ror the prior cfilendar year.~"i Similar to USF and TRS. outstanding NANP administration payments and
LNP pa)i1llents are 'llso Sll~jcct to the DCIA..~H

I!' Pub. L. No. 101-3.16. § 401, 104 Stat. 327. 366-69 (1990) (adding section 225 to the Act).

I') See Tefecomllllll1iwfions Relay S'ervfces lind fhe AmericoJrS wifh Disahililie.~ A('I q( 1990, Third Report alld Order.
S FCC Red 5300. 5301. ~ 7 (1993)( TRS 1/1 Onler).

!C See Tdecomfllllnimtiolls Refay Services and SiJeec!J-lo-Speech Serricf.'S fol' Individuol'i with Hearing al/(I Speech
Disahili/ies, Repan and Order. 15 FCC R\:d 5140.5143, l 5 (2000).

'. See 47 CF.R. § 64.604(e)(5)(iii).

2~ All crlrriers prOViding interstate telecommunications services (including. but not limited to, cellular telephone and
paging, mobile radio, operator services, personal comnlllnicnlions service. access. alternative access and special
<lccess. p<lcket-switched, WATS. 800, 900. message telephone. private line, telex. telegraph. video. satellite.
illlcmnlionul. intra LATA. and resale services) mUS1 contribute to the TRS Fund on the basis of their interstate end­
user tt:!ecol11nlun ications rcvenu(:s. See /998 Biel1l1;al Reglllarul)' Rerie"l' - Slreamlil1cd COlllriblltor Repol"UIl?
Reqllil'l.'IIIr.'I1(S Associaled Wil!r A,lminislrolion ofTelecomml//lic(lliOl/s Reluy Services. North Amerh'wJ NII/1/heril/g
NUll. Local Numher /'orlobili/J', alld Universal Serv;ceSupport .-\feehanisllls. Report find Order. 14 fCC Red 16602,
16630-34. 'I~ 59·67: '17 CF.R. § 64.604(eX5l(iii).

,':; Sill..' Sflpro para. 2, Hole 10, Any entity owing money to lhe TRS rlJl1d wil I be considered delinquent if payment is
flOI rnade by the due d<Jle specified on the annufll or monthly ill\'oice_ NECA notifies the Commission of "Ii TRS
delinquencies. See National Exchange Carrier Association. "Red Light Rule Noticc- October 2004."
hltp:!/ww\..·.nec<l.orgJ,SOU RCEfNECA_RESOURCES_34JO.ASP (last visited July 16.2007).

"47 U.S.C § 25 l(e)II) .

•, 47 US.C § 251(e)12).

:'(,47 C.F.R. § 51.17(a).

:'7..t7 C.F.R. § 52.32.

28 .)~eI?47 C.F.R. ~ 1.1901 e! seq.
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7. Plnsuant to sectio]] 9{a)( I) ofthc Act and section 1.1151 oflhe Commission's rules.
illlerstate lele{;l)II1IlHlllicaliolls nlld olher providers must pay regulatory fees tn lht: COllllni~sil..ll1 to {;ovcr
lhe costs of certain rcgulnlOry <Jctivities.2

'} In particular. sections 1.1154 and 1.1 I57(h){ I) of the
Commission' s rllJc~; require that interstate teleCOlllmllll icatians carriers pay regulatory fees Oil the basis of
their intt:rstate and illternational end-uscI' revelllJes.-lO Such fees must be paid 011 tHl annual basis;;! <lnd
failure 10 do so subjects a curiel' to late payment penalties, as weI! as possible revocation of its operating
authority.·l! Further. under the Commission's ''"red light rule." action will be withheld 011 any applicalion
to the Commission or request for authorization made by any entity that has f"niled to pay when due its
regulatory fees or any other program payment. such as USF contributions. nnd if payment or payment
arrangements are not made within thirty days from notice to the applicant. stich applications or requests
will be uismissed.-

1
)

8. Co,npass. a New Jersey-based company. has provided telecol1llllunications services since
1998.-'1 Compass c~rrently provides teJecollllllllJ1 ications services as a toll resellcr and a prepaid card
provider." On Mal' 7. 2007. Ihe Bureau issued a Icncr of inquiry CLOr-). in it iating an investigation into
,.... hether Compass may have violated. the Act and the Commission's rules.H

' After receiving t,....o
extensions oftimc. Compnss responded to the LOI on June 29, 2007.)1 Compass filed supplemental
materials on July 30.2007:111" Among other services, Compass provides unaffiliated companies wilh toll­
free access to its Ph'lwaccessibfe, prepaid calling-card switching platform.J

') Compass provides these
companies with platform access and switching capabilities for delivery of their rrivalc lahel prepaid
L'3J1ing cards."(l While COllllXlSS argues thaI it is not obligated to contribute to universal service hased all
most of the service~: it provides:"l it admits in its initial response that it is a provider <IndioI' consUlIler of

~'lSeclion 9(a)( I} of the ACI dirccls (he Commission to "assess and collect regulatory le~s to Jecover the C~lStS or Ihe
following regulatory activities orlhe Commission: enforcl:lllcnt activilies, policy and rulcmakillg activiLit:s, user
inlorn1{jlion services, and international activities.'" 47 U.s.c. § 159(3)( 1); see also 47 c.r.R. § 1.1151.

"See '17 C.F.R. §§ I.! 154. 1.1157(b)( I).

JI 47 c'F.R. § L1157(b)( I). Section 1.1154 afthe Commission's rules sets forth the scheuulc Of.IllOlWt regulatory
charges and filing IOC<llions for common carrier services. See·:17 C.F.R. § I. I 154.

"'See47 USc. §§ 159(0)(1).(0)(3).

)'\n C.F.R, § 1.1910. The rule went into effect on November I, 200-l. See "FCC Announces Brief Delay in
Enfurcelllcnt of Red Light Rule," Puhlic No/ice. 19 FCC Red 19452 (200'1) .

.,1 Set! Letter from Jon,Hhan S. Marashlin, Counsel for Compass. to Brian Hendricks, Attorney Advisor.
Investigatiuns & Hearings Division. Enforcement Bureau, FCC. dated June 29. 2007. at I <Jlld Attachment 1 ("LO]
Response").

'-'~See Comp;lss' ~005 FCC Fonn 499-A Telecommunications Reporting Worksheet, LOf Respoll.w: at Auncll1ncl1t 6­
U: Compass' 2006 FCC rorm 499-A Tekcommunications Reporting Worksheet. Id. ilt AttachmcnI6-U: Compass'
1007 FCC Form 499-A Telecomrnunicatiorls Reporting Worksheet.fd. at Attachment 6·E.

3(, LCllcr from Trent I'::<lrkrader. Deputy Chief, Investigations 8; Hearings Division, Enforcement Bureau. FCC. 10
Mr. Dean Cary. Prcsidenl and Chief b:eclltivc Orflcer. Com puss Globnl. Inc .. daled May 7. 2007 ("LO]").

;7 Set' UJf Respol/se.

_'lS L~t1~r from JOIHlth<tll S. Marashlian. Counsel for Compass, to Brian Hendricks, AHorlley Auvisor. Investigations
'.lIld Heilrings Division, £Illd Trent Harkrader, Deputy Division Chief. Investigations and He<lr;ngs Divisioll, ltdy 30.
2007. C'S1Ippfemel1!ol If,espouse'·).

;.~ UJ! Ut'~polI.l"e ,H 2 Inquiries J and 2.

l!> It!. (II I<!.

~l See IJ)I ReSp(mH: <tIl inquiry 2.
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"telecollllllunications services:" with regard to irs "switched toll free inbound service lhat is integrated
with Compass' PIN accessible switching platform scrvicc:-.l: In its Supplemental Response. however.
Compass argues it is not providing a telecommunications s~rvicc, and is thus 110t required to report
revenue 011 a Form 499-A. Compass explains th<11 consulllers purchase prepaid calling cards from its
business customers and may place intcrst<lte and international calls by dialil1g:1 loll-free number accessing
Compass' network. Compass sells this access 10 its network only 10 other companies. not directly to
conSllmers, Hnd the prepaid calling cards sold 10 consumers by Compass' business customers do flot
identify Compass 3:; either the calling card provider or the network serviccs,provider. J

.' Compass argues
it does nor provide :lleJecommul1ications service because it docs not sell Or market prepaid calling card
direclly to consumers. In addition. Compass states it provides an "Enhanced Wholesale Service" by
reselling net\vork capacity to communications companies who transmit their international voice and dala
calls over the Compass Internet Protoco/nctwork. Compass contends this service is not a
teleCOllllllunication!. service because it is Dilly offered wholesale and. as till exclusively IP~enablcd

service. it is only cllaracterized as an information scrvice.~~

9. Compass has a history of failing 10 comply with the Coml1lission's rules. On Deccmber
27. ~006. prior 10 tile initiation of tile current il1v~stigation, the Commission proposed a forfeiture against
Compass for apparent violations of the Commission's payphone compensation rules, The Commission
determined lil"lt Compass. among other apparenl violations. had apparently violated our rules and the Act
by failing to establi~;h 011 a timely basis a call truckillgSystCIll that accurately tracks coinless access code
or subscriber toll-fn~e payphonc calls to cOlllpletion: failing 10 have that cnl! tracking system allditcd~ and
failing to compensate payphone service providers for calls or provide compliant call d,lta reports. The
COlllmission also found tha1 Compass faileJ 10 respond 011 a timely basis to <l directivl: of the
Enforcement Bureau Lo provide infonnation and documel1ts.~~ Compass~ compliance problems did 1101
end with its payphone compensalion obligations. Compass also concedes that it did 1101 register or tile
any of tile required ;;'ofln499s until September 2006 when it filed its Form 499~A reporting revenue for
tile yetlr 2005. live mOllths late.Jb Compass then timely filed a 2007 Form 499~A reporting revenue for
"006011 March 27. '1007.

10. On July 30, 2007. however. COlllpnss submitted to the Bureau two Form 499s
purportedly revising lhe 2007 and 2006 Form 499-As. Compass provided the Fonn 499s at the S31llt.:' timl'

it provided its SupplcmenL31 Response. nrguf[]g II13t neither tile prepaid carling card service nor the IP
transport service was a telecommunications service. Compass e:xplains thaI it reVised the FOfm 499-A$ In
correct its previous. mistaken filings that reported what they now argue is llon~teiccomlllunicatiolls

revenue as telecommunications revenue. Compass <llso explains in Ille Sllpplementnl l{espollsl: lhat Ihe
revised 499-As accollnt for the retail revenue it derives from the prepaid calling card service as ordinary
long distance out of an aOUnd<lIlCC of calJtioJl.~7 The revenue Compass reponed on the revised 2006 and
2007 forms dated July 30.2007 \vas significantly less lhan initially reported 011 the original Form 4995.
Compass h<l5 yet to submit the r~\'ised FOfm 499-1\s 10 USAC. One day ancr submitting its
Supplemental Response and revised Form 49<)~As to the Bureau. however. Compass did file wilh USAC

.12 LOI Response at 3 iilqllil)' S.

-I~ SU[JplemenrlJl Rcspu/lSe at 3.

,n Supplemental Response <11 2.

~~ Compass. Inc. D/DI.I Compass Global. Iflc.. Notice or Apparl.'nt Liability for Forfeiture and Order. ~ 1 FCC Red
15132 (2006).

-II> LOI Response <:It 3 inquiry ).

~, .)·upplemeJJ(al Respr.m·c at S. Compass further represents it will continue 10 rcpon and Pay contribulions on the
revellllC from the prep;liJ card service out orllbllnd<JJlce ofcaul Ion.

6
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Clnother version oflhe revised 2007 FOfm499-A. This filing reported revenues far greater thall that
repor1cd on the revised Forms submitted to Bureau, but Jess Ihan originally reported all the Form 499-A
dated March 27. :?U07.

III. IlISCUSSION

11. Under section 503(0)( I) oflhlo: Act. any person who is determined by the Commission to
have \villfulJy or repeatedly failed to comply ~vith any provision oflile Act or any rille. rcgulalioll. or
order issucd by the Commission shall be liable 10 lhe United Slates for a forfeiture pcnalt:y.-Hl Section
312(f)( 1) of the Act defines \\.'illful as "the cOllscious and deliberate cOlnmission or omission oflany] act.
irrespective ofany intenl to violate" the law:19 The legislative history to section 312( f){ I} of the Act
clarifies that this d',flnition of willful applies 10 bOlh sections 3 U and 5[)3(b) Dfthe AdO and thc
Commission has so interpreted the term in the s~ctioJ1 50J(b) context. jl The COlllmission may [Ilso assess
a forfeiture for violations that arc merely repeated. and not willful.5

? "Repeated1
' means that the act was

committed or omitted more than once. or lasts more than olle day.5.; To impose such a forfeiture penalty.
rhe Commission mllsl issue a notice ofapparclll liability and the perSotl against whom the notice Iws been
issued Illllst have an opportunity to show. in writing. why no such forfeiture penalty should be illlposcd.j~

The COlllmission will then issue forfeiture ir il finds by (t preponderance oflhc e\'idcnce thaI tile person
has violnted the Act or a Commission rule.~5

12. lh~ fundamental issues in this C;Jse are whether Compass Is a telecollllllunications carrier
and th~rclorc apparently violated the Act and the COlllmission's rules by: (I) failing to timely pay ill full
USF contributions: (2) f.1ilillg to timely pay in full TRS fund contributiolls: (3) failing to timely pay
contributions to NJ..NP administration cost recovery mechanisms: (4) failing to timely pay LNP
contribtltions: and (S) v.'illfully or repeatedly failing to pay regulatory fees to the Commission. We
answer this/these questions affinnalively. Bnscd on a preponderance ortlle evidence. we therefore
conclude that Compass is apparently liable for a lorfeilurc of $828.613.44 for apparently willfully <lnd

4~ 47 tLS.C. § 503(h}( IHA}: 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(<1)(1): see also 47 U.S.c. S 503(b)( I )(D) (forfeitures lor violalion of
/4 U.S.c. *(464).

" 47 USc. § 3 ,"(1)( /).

~u H.R. Rep, No. 97-765. 9ih Cong. 2d Scss. 51 (1982) ("'This pl'Ovision [inscrl(:d in Section J 12] ddil1{:s tilL: t('rlm
'willful' and repealed' lor purposes of seclion 312. alld for all)' olher relevant section orthe del (e.g.. seclion503)., .
As dctined ... 'wi II flJ l' means that the licensee kne\...· Illat he W(lS doing the act in question, regardless of whether
thert' WflS ,Hl intent to violate the law, 'Hepealed' means more lhan once. or where Ihe act ;s continuous. for more
than one d"y. Whether all act is considered 10 be 'continuous' WDuld depend llpon t~e circumstances in each case.
The dcllnitions are in,cndcd primarily 10 clarify the language in $c;-ctions J 12 un::! 503. and arc cOllsistcn! with the
Commission'S appfictlrion of those lerms. _.."),

~I See. L'.~., Application/or Revie,!' a/Southern Co/rlomia BroaJca,Hing Co_, f',·hmlOrandulll Opinion and Order. 6
l-TC RcJ 4387, 4388. ~I 5 (1991) ("SOl/than Cal{jhmia Droadc:o.rtillg Co").

:;~ ,I)'ce, e.g., Callais CdJ/c\'isioll, 1111..'., Grand IsIL'. I.uuisiana. NOliee of Aprarcill Liability for Monela!)' Forfeiture.
16 FCC Ret! 1359. 1362. ~ 10 (2DOI) ("Caflais Cahh'l'isio!J, 11Ic.··) (issuing <l Notice of App<lrCl11 Liability for. imer
alia, a cable television operalor's repeated signa) Icabge).

"Soll(h~'mCalffornia Droadcaslil1!!, Co., 6 FCC Red at 4388,' 5; Cl!lai.~ Cahlel'ision. Inc, 16 FtC Red at )362.";
~.

q 47 USc. ~ S03(b), 47 C.F.R. § /RO(!).

.« See, ('.g. SBe COIrI'Jltmicalions. IlIc.. Forfeiture Order, 17 I:CC Kcd 7589. 7591, ~ 4 (10D2).
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repeatedly .... iolating sections 9_ ~25. 251(c)(2), and ~54 of the Act and sections 1.1154. 1.1157.52.17(;1).
52.32(a), 54.706(,,), and 64.604(c)(5)(iii)(A) orlho Commission's rulos.'t.

A. COIlIIJ:lSS Provides Telecommunications Services

13. Compass argues that thnlthc services al issue <Jre ··JP-ill-tlw-middlc" wholcsrtle services,
and that they. as well as prepaid calling card services, are not ""telecommunicatiolls s~rvices:' As
discussed helow, \\.-c find these services arc telecolllillunications services subject to our regulations lind.
upon reviewing Compass· compliance with our rules, conclude that Compass apparelltly violated the Act
and Ollr rules by failing to timely pay in full contributions toward the Universnl Service, TRS Funds. cost
recovcry mechanisms for NANP administration and LNP, and required rcgulntoT)' fees,

14. WI~ conclude that the wholesale services Compass sells to prepaid cllliing card providers
are telecollll11unications services under our rules and the Act. '''Telecommunications service" is defined as
"the offering of telecommunications for a fee directly to the public or to such classes of users as to !:Ie
effectively available directly 10 the public regardless of the facilities used"on "Telecommunications"
means "the transmission, between or among points specified by the user. of infonnat ion of the uscr's
choosing. without dlilllge ill the fOfm or content oflhe information as sent and rcccivcd.·'~1 Compass
cxplains that consumers purchase prepaid calling cards frolll its business customers and are able to place
interstate and international calls by dialing n toll· free number accessing Compass' network - i.e..
"switched toll free inbollllJ service that is integrated with Compass· PIN accessible s\vitching platform
service:··S'.I Compa~;s sells this access to its network only 10 other companies. not directly to conSUlllers,
and the prepaid calling cards sold to consumers by Compass' business customers do flot idl'nti(y Compnss
as either the cnllin!:: card provider or the network services provider. Compass does nol dispute that its
provision of prepnid cnll ing cards const itutes '·lhe offering of tclecOllllllun ications.·· Indeed. Compass has
admitted the telecommunications nature ortllis service."'o Rather. the sole hasis for COlllpnss' Jrglll11enl is
thai its provision of this service is all a wholesnle basis and thus does not COllstilute a
"teleculllmunications service" because Compass docs Ilot provide [his service 10 the Pllhlic.(·l

15. Compass' reliance on the wholesnle nalurc of this service is misplaccd. I\s we h.we
previously slated. ··[tJhe dcllililion of "Ielecommunications services~ long hns been held 10 include hoth
retail ;md wholesali: services under COlTlmission precedenl.",o: The Commission has previously held thnt
the phril~e ··10 Ihe r;ublic" ill the definition or··telecommunications service" does not llle:J1l a service lll11s1
be offered to the entire public to qualify t.lS a telecommunications service. A service oo-ered 10 a deiincd
c lass of potential cuSlomers is a telecolTlmun icatiolls service as long as the service provider "holds itself
out indiscriminately to serve all within that class:,{,~ To qualify as a tcleCOllllllllllicatiolls carrier.

"47 U.S.c. § 159,225, 251(c)(2). ,nd 254: -17 C.F.R. § 1.1154, 1.1157,52.17(,,),52.32, 54.706(,}
64.604(c)(5)(;;;)( A).

q c.\7 USc. § 153(·Hi).

!S 47 USc. § 153(4:;).

1'1 LOf Respu/ls(' at 3 inquiry 5.

UI See supra. para. 8,

hi SzrppfellleJ1laf Respoll.\'c al 3-4.

r.c S'c£'. e.g.. fmp/('lIIenlalio1/ I!llhe NOIl-Acco/lnting S(~/i:glllfrds(~(.I';ecli()fls271 lIwl 172 ofrhe C'rIJlJIJI/tnicolillflS .-kf

uf lYJ-I. as Ame!lded, First Reron and Order i1nJ FlInh~r Notice:: Grprcposed Ruk:lUnking, 11 ITC Red 21905.
~1033. p;Jra. 264 (r 996) (subscCjucnt history o!J1itted) (No/!-AcCOIIJ1liIlX Saji:XIll/nl.. Order}

1,_: /OWI/ L'. FCC. 218 F.3d 756. 759 (D.C Cir. 2000).
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I..:ornpanies only need to offcr indiscriminate service to whatever public their services may legally LInd
pmctically be or use.M Thus. the focus of tile inquiry is on whether the carrier olTt.:rs ils telecommunications
in such a manlier 115 to make it a common carrier. (,.\ i.e.. by "hold ling itsclfl Ollt to serve indifferenlly all
pOlential users."-{o(' Compass has provided llO evidence that the wholesale servicl.:s proviu~d 10 prepaid
calling card companies are nol available indiscriminately to all companies scekillg to provide prepaid card
services. We therefore conclude that Compass' utTering of wholesale service to prepaid calling cnrd
pro\'iders is a tclec'::lIl1munications sen'ice.

16. WI~ are also not persuudcd Ilia! Compass' illvocation of an Enforcement Bureau Order
resolving <l formal complaint compels 3 finding lI1<1t COl11pnss is not providing. telecolllillunicntions
services. APCC St£rvices, Illc. v. Network If, I.LC involved a section 208 formal comploinl against
Net\\:ork Ip. a felccOlllmUIl ications carrier offering other com pan ies a package of services enahlillg those
companies to provide prepaid calling cards to cnd-llscrcustomers.67 The complainants alleged that
Network IP failed to pay compensation rcqu ired by the Commission's payphone compensation rules. ami
the Bureau ultimately agrecd.MI Compass COil tends that ils wlloicsale platform pwvidil1g voice.
information. call routing and account management services is sim ilar to Network IP' s platlbrm. but
Compass fails to explain how this supports a linding that Compass is 110t n telecommunications service
provider. Like Network IP. Compass offers other companies this wholesule services packag~ which is
IIscd 10 provide prepaid cnllillg cards to COIlSlllnCrs.6'l APCC finds Ihat Network II' - not the business
customers to whom Network If> provides whol~sale service - was obligalcd 10 nmke payphone
compensation payments, and the Order repeatedly describes Ihe wholesale scrvic~ package provided by
Network IP as "!ckcommull icatians servicl:s." cnabl jog Network IP's bus iness customers to 0 ITer prepaid
calling card sen' ices to the public.?O Our determination that COJllpa5S~ provision of wholesale service to
prepaid calling card providers is a telecomllluilications service is therefore consistent with the lrcatment
of Nct'\vork Ip's wllolesale package.

17. We also conclude that the ser'vices Compass calls '''Enhanced Wholesale Service" arc also
telecOllllllunications services. Compass resells nctwork cnpaeity to communicatiolls companies who
transmit international voice calls and daHl over Compass' IP network. Compnss claims it mistakenly
reported revenue derived from this service ol1lhc Form 499·As originally filed ill 2006 and 2007 <15
"telecornIll1lIlicJtions.',71 CompJSs argues this service is nol <l le!eCOlTIlllllllicnlions service because it ;$ JIl
"enhanced/information service'- Ih31 receives ;\Ild transmits communications cxclusively ill Inlernel

(,-1 NARUC \'. FCC. S:!5 F.2d 630, 642 (D.C. Cif. 1(76). NV/1-Ac:c/1//1/tillg Sajegl/ol'll\' Order. t 1 FCC Rcd at 11033.
para. 265 (finding tha the inclusion of the tCfm"\O Ihe public" rd1ccted the distinction between COlllllllHl <1l1d
private carriage, <lnd thus did 1101 limit "telecol1ll11tJllic<ltions servicr.:" III services tlni:red 10 rClail. lind 1101 whoJcsak.
cllslomers).

&~ Time Wamer Cahf-? Request/oT Declara/my Rilling ThaI Competili\'{' Local Erc!lrmge Carriers ,\Ia)' (Jowin
f11l(!rconl1ection Under Sec/ioll ]51 ofrhe ('O/1/III/{lIicaliVII:J Ael Of /93-1. as Amended. (() PrO\'ide IVIIO!esale

TdecommllJlicQliolls Sen'ices fo "ofP Providers. i\'1enlorandulll Opinioll and Order, 22 FCC Red 3513. 3517-18. II~i

11-12 (2007).

(,f. NARUC \'. FCC. 5:>3 F.ld 601, 608 (D.C. Cif. 1(76).

b? APCC Sen·ices. In,;, el 01. \'. ,Verll'orA If. I-LC CI af.. LLP.• Memorandum Opinion and Order, 20 fCC Red :W73

IEnf. BUL 2005)_

Ml ...)(!(! 47 C.f.R. *6,s.1300.

f,') Supplemental Rt!spunse at 4.

:(1 S'ee APCC :')('n'icl?,'~ ". Nctll'ork fP.10 FCC Red lit 2074 ~ 2. 2077 (' 10,

71 Supplemental Response <It 3.

9
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Protocol.J~ Compass argues that its service IllUsl be an information service bcc<1L1se it utilizes only IP and
does not transmit voice traffic llsing traditionalmcthods.7.l

18. We reject Compass! argument. The Act says the tenn "information service" lTleallS "the
offering ofa capability for generating. acquiring, storing, transforming. processing, retrieving. utilizing.
or making availab'lc information via telecommunications, and includes electronic publishing but does not
include allY use of any such capability for the management. control. or operation of a telecOllllllunications
system or the man ilgemelll of a telecornmunical ions scrvicc.'·7J The Commission has said lhal the
definitions of"'telecomnHlllications service" ,1I1d "infonnntioll service" do not hinge 011 the particul<lr type
of facilities used, but on the functions available."75 Thus, the fact that Internet Protocol is Llsed exclusively
as transport for the traffic has no bearing 011 whether these voice and data services are appropriately
considered telecollllllunications service. The Commission has also said that services that are not so
inextricably Iinkec: \vith information~processing capabilities. but are utilized by end-users of the service
for basic transmiss ion purposes. arc telc'COlnlllUIl icatiolls services and subject to Title II requirements. JIJ

We emlllot conclude Compass' services are inextricably linked with the information-processing
capabilities. Compass' services. including the offering of network access for basic voice services, ,ne
llsed by end users for basic transmission purposes. and lhlls \\e find the services are telecommunications
services subject to Title II requirements.

19. We also reject Compass' contentiolllhat its wholesale access trclnSport service is not a
telecoml11uJl icatiolls service because it differs rrom the telecommunications service in the AT&T IP
TelephonySerl'ices Ordel'.7J In that Order. the Commission fOllnd AT&T's service, which transported
voice traffic by utilizing Inttlrnet Protocol in some parts. was a teleconllIlunications sen' ice for which
AT&T \Vas obligalcd to pay interstate access chargcs. 7S The Commission expressly Iimitcd its decision to
AT&T's interexchange service. This service was fOllnd to enable end users to place calls using ordinary
customer premises equipment with 110 €111wllced functionality that originated and terminated 011 tile pllhlic
switched telephone network. The service also underwent no net protocol conversion and provided no
enhanced functionality to end users due 10 the usc orlhe IP tcchnology.7Q Compass claims the

I~ SUflp/<.!/IH!l1!lIf Re,\iw/lsl: at 1-3_

~-; Supplememal Respollse af 3.

JJ -.t7 U.S.c. § 153(2.)).

75 II7'f/liJ:r Concerning High-Speed Access Tv 711c {nternt! Ql'er Cab!r.: AI/(/ Olher Facilities, Declaratory Ruling and
Notice of Proposed Itulemaking. 17 FCC Rcd 4798. 4821 ~35 (2002) (subsequen( history omitted) (Cuble /I/ndl!/IJ
Dec/oratory Ruling and NPRAl).

it, Approflriafc FroJlle'l'Ork/or Broadband AcCt'SS to Ihl! Iltfemef Ol'er Wireliile Focililies: Ullin'rSol Sen'ice
()hf(f!,uli/!I1s ojBr()(/({hand PrOl'ider.\ Revie\(· (1 Neg/do/my Rl."J/lirel!lel/(,~fhr1//clll/lhelll I.£C Broadhand
li:fCc.:Ollllllil11ico'iom Services: Compllfcr II/ Fllrther Remand Proceedings: !Jeff U{)!!r(/,!,,?, ComplIJI)' PrlJ\'isirlll/?(
Ellhallci.?d SeJ,-ic(.'s: f99813icnnial Regulatory NI..'I·it:11' - Review o(CompllleJ" 1I! alld ()NA ,r.,;,!!eglllll"ds lim!

Reqllircmellfs: COllditiunul ?f.ditivn oj h!ri~ol/ Telephune Cumpaniesfor Forbearance Under 47 u.s.e § 1M) ((')
With Regard fo Bmadhfll1d Services Provided ~ iu Fiher In the Premises: Pefiticm (?f Ihe :'erf:rm Telephone
Componiesjfw Declaratory Ruling or, Alrernath'dr.lnr Interim iI/Girt'/" ll'ith Regard i{J fJroodhtmdServices
f'rOI'ided du Fiber to t!lt? Premises: Consumer rrotecthm in the Broadband Em': Report and Order and No( ice uf
Proposeu Kulemakillg. 20 FCC Red 14853. 14860-61. 'f 9 (:~005)_

iJ Pell/i(m/or' Declararory Ruling ,hal A "1'& r 's PllOlle-fO·PllOne IP Telephony Sen'ices are Exempt;rom Acc(;'.1",,>
Charges. Order, 19 vee Red 7457. 7460 (200'1) ("..I T& T IP "'eJephOJ~r Services"") (Cit;:l ilm:; omitted).
-g IJ.

,~ Id at 7465,
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Commission's holding was limited only to retail, cnd-to-t:nd service ofTerings. n.rguing that its service is
1101 a relecollllllUllieatiolls service because il is 110t an cnd-to~cIIJ retail sCr\·jce.

lil1i

20. W(~ do 1101 agree with Compass' narrow reading. Compass describes the sen'ices il
provides as intemational wholesale services. prov;denlo olher communications compnnics, who then in
turn use the service;' to transmit voice and datn.10 Compass does not claim its service undergoes <lny net
protocol conversion nor docs it claim irs sen:icc enahles end users a "capahility for generating, acquiring,
::;toring, transforming, processing. retrieving, utilizing, or making available information'" which.
according to AT& T IF Teleplumy Serl'icl!s, wnuld be required to characterize it as an information
scrvice.H

: COlllpas:; also docs not claim el1d users pl<lcC or receive voice calls any differently bc:callse of
the lP portion orthe service than they would irll~ing traditional circuit-switched service. Ifanylhing.
much like the service at issue in the AT& T IP Telephony Sen';cffs Order. all)' lise oflP services appears to
be for transport only and similar to "intcrnerworking cOllversions" which thc Commission has found to be
telecommunications services. lt

.' Additionally, 11 finding thatll1e $erviccs Compass provides nrc
teleCOllllllLJl1icrltiollS services regardless ortlle facl that IP is used for the entirety or tile fransmission
service is consistent \vith lhe COllllTl ission's prior I'll Iillg in t he 201M Prepaid Co(/ing Card (Jrtle/'. In thai

case. AT&T had stdted thai it developed a llC'''' prepaid calling card that lIsed IP technology to transport
part or all ofille call, and the Commission lI11imately determined that these calling card ser"ices were
"telecomlllunications service"'~ The COlllmission has for many years recognized thai packet switched
interstate transmission services may approprintcly be classified as telecolllillunications serviccs.H5 We
therefore cOllcllldc that Compass' wholesale access service is a telCCOtllllHlIlication service. ! laving fOllnd
thai Compass' wholesale access services me lelecOlTlnlllllications services. it follows that the reVt,.'llue
Compass derives from its wholesale prepaid calling card services and ilS wholesale <lccess services must
reported on (he FCC Form 499-1\.

B. Cump3ss AflP~trently F"iled To Make lJniversal Scn'ice Fund Contrihlltiolls

21 . Section 54. 706(a) unambiguously directs that "entities [provid ing] inlerstate
telccOlllmunicatioll5 to the public ... for a fec ... contribute 10 the universal service support
mechanisms."u, Compass l1<1s dClllonstr<lted a pattern of failing 10 fulfill its contribution obligations by
making insurticienl payments 10 the USF. Thc record is clear Ihat betwecn May :W05 and I)cl:elllbcr
2005 as well as bd'.veen .I:lI1uary 2006 and Deccmber 2006. Compass failed [0 make <Iny paYlllents to

M(I SI/pplem/!ntul Respunse ,11 3. For the reasons disclissed above. we dctermine tile fact thal Compass provides
wholesale ralher than retail scrvicc does not detcrmine iflhe s~rvice is a teleco!lllllunications servin:.

~J Sltppfemenlaf Respr}/1se at 2.

1I: AT(f.. T IP Teiephol~'t".";en'ice.~. 19 FCC Red at 7465.

.~; Non-.·lcl.'OU/rlin,f!, S(I(egllards Order. [ I rcc Rcd ilt 2\957 ~ 106. Allhollgh Ihe {Crill "illtcrnctworking
conversions" as llsed by the Commission in Ihe NO/h-4ccOIlllting ,(ja/eXl/ords Order ;lIld the A7'& r /I' ri.dt'j,hOl~l'

,)'"nices Order refers to conversions occurrillg snlcly \.... ithin a canier's network to fnei lital,,' the provision of a basil'
network service. WI:: find it equally appiicable 10 the arrangement Compass describes im.'0Ivillg. Illuitiple carrie~ all a
single CJII path.

1I.:1 Regu/orivn ofPrep':1id Calling Card Servict'.\', DeclilTatory Ruling and Report and Order. 21 FCC Red 7290
('"lO()(j Prepaid Colli'lg Cord (kder").

~5 Depl0,l'/l1mll?(lI'ir,dil1f1 '<:"'I.!/'vices O./.Terillg AJI'(/JIt'I:d Telecomlllulliclllifms CajJoci(,', Mell1or<lndulll Opinion and
OrcJ~r and Notice of Proposed RLlI~making. 13 FCC Red 14012.

116.17 C.F.R. § 5<J.706(a).

II
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USAC. ll7 Additionally. in 2007 Compass failed to make January and March payments. As 3 result of
these f"<lilures, Compass has consistently 1l1uintnincd large outstandil1g USF balances with USi\C.
particularly over tile past three year::;. Compass has accrued $159,005 ill overdue payments. As W~

previously have slated.

I~ Jarrier nonpayment of 1I1livcrsa I service contributions undennincs the efficiency and
crfectiven~ssof the universal service support mechanisms. Moreover. delinquent carriers
may obtaiI'. a competitive advanlnge over carriers complying Wilh the Act and our rules.
We consid:r universal service nonpayment to be a serioLis threat (0 a key goal of Congress
and one ofille Commission's primary responsibilities.8R

22. Based 011 the preponderance of the evidence. we find that Compass has apparently
violated section 2:54(d) of the Act and section 54.706(a) oflhe COlllmission's rules hy willfully or

repeatedly failing to contribute fully and timely to the lISF.

c. Compass Apparently Failed to Make TRS Contdhll1ions

23. As an interstate telecomlllunications carrier. Compass was obligated to contribute to lhc
TRS fund on the basis of its interstate end-user telecomrnunicaliolls revellues.x') A carrier"s contribution
to the TRS Fund is b3St:U upon its subject revenues for the prior calendar year and a contribution t:1ctor
determined anllually by the Commission.'lO Subject carriers ll1uslmake TRS contributions all 311 anllual
has is. with certain exceptions that are not applicable to Compass.'}1 The record indicates that to dale
Compass has failed to mnke any payments towards its TRS Fund obligation.'/? We therefore cOllcllide that
COlllpa" has apparently violated seclion 225 or the Act and seclion 64.604(c)(5)(iii)(A) of the
COll1mission's rules by willfully or repeatedly f[tiling to make rull and limely TRS contributiolls.'l.l

n LOI Rr!spomf: at Attachment 7 shows no paYlllenls in 2006. USAC did not rt:ceivc payments from Compass prior
to Febnl<lf)' 16.2007. 8ft/: Email from Tracey [3t;:ilver. USACIO Elizabeth Mumaw. Investigations and Iknrings
Divisioll. FCC July 13,1007.

MR0 '1ohcOIII, Ille. dlb.!a Glohcum Cilvhal COl1J1II1micmioils. Notice or Apparenl Li,lbilily for Forkiturc and Orrkr. 1g
FCC Red 19893.19903, f! 26 (2003) ("(jlohcolII N../L"): See l'.g.. G/ohcolII. 111c., Ordl"r of For1Cilllrc.11 FCC Red
471 (l, ,112·1. ~i 37 (2:)06) C'(j{OhCllfll FmId/lirc Order").

"47 C.F.R. SM.6C"I(c)(5)(iii)(IJ).

,," /d.

"I/d. Under the Commission's rules. each subjeci carrier must contriblil~ al !ellst S~5 per year. and carriers whose
annual contribution; nre less than Sl.::WO must p;1.y the entire amounl <lIlhe beginning. of the contribution period.
Otherwise. carriers may divide their contributiolls into equal monthly puymcllts. Id.

9: .)·CL' Marilla Aparicio. NECA. Email to Evelyn Lombardo, Illvesligalions lind Ilctlrings Division, Enfon:crllCIlI
Illirc;Ju. FCC. 16 July 2007.

_'.1 DcspilC the f(let that Compass consislelltly "lliled 10 remit full and timely pClymtl11S for monthly TRS II1\'oices. we
c\:creisc our disere(;on in finding that Compllss nrp:m.~nt I)' violated section 22) of the Ac! and section 64.60,1 of 1111':
COflll11ission·s niles only twice because the TRS obligalion is ull anllual asseSSlllCllt which can. and was in lhe
inslalll matter. divided inlo equal monthly p:lymcnts for the 2005 and 2006 billing cycles. See e.g, Clohcolli
FOI:!cifUl'e Order. 11 FCC Red al 4721. r J I (assessing forfeiture bClscd on carl'ier's failurt' to pay monthly invoiccs

for USF and TRS).



Federal Communications Commission

D. Compass Apparently F'liled to Molke Timely NANP Administration
Con tri butions

FCC-OR-97

24. As a telecommunications carrier. Compass was obligated to contribute to NANP
admillistratioll co~.t recovery mechanisms 011 the basis or its end-user telecoll1lTlunications revenlJes.?~ The
record demonstrates that Compass has failed to make timely NANP payments in 2005 and 2006.
Compass failed to make a payment until April 12. 2007"~ Wc therefore conclude that Compass has
apparently violated section 25I(e)(2) of the Act and section 52.\7(a) of the Commission·s rules by
willfully or repeatedly failing to make timely NANP Cldministration contributions.

E. Compass Apparently Failed to M~lke Timely LNP Contributions

25. As a telecommunications carrier, Compass was obligatcd to contribute to the LNP cost
recovery mechanimls ol11he basis of its end-user telecommunications revcllllcs.96 The record
demonstrates that Compass has repeatedly failed (0 make timely LNP payments since 2QOS.':l7 The first
payment was made by Compass on April 9. 2007 and even then Compass failed to make a full p;lYlllent.",8
'A'e lherefore conclude that Compass has npparent!y violated section 252(e)(2) of the A~t and section
52.32(a) of tile CC'lllmission's rules by willfully or repeatedly failing to make timely LNP contributions.

F. Compass Apparently Failed to Pay Its Regulatory Fccs

26. As an interstate telephone service provider. Compass was required to pay regulatory fees
on fhe basis of its inlerstate and international end-user revel1ucs.

Q9 Compass admits that to the best of its
I\nowlcdge it has never paid FCC regu latory fees. IOU For these reasons. we find that Compass apparently
has violated sections 1.1 154 and 1. I I57(b)( I} or lh~ Commission's rules by willfully and repeated Iy
lailing to pay regtlatory fees program payments when due in 2005 and 2006.

G. Proposeu Forfeiture Amollnt

27. Secticlll 50J(b)( I) of tile Act provides tllat any persall that willrully or repeatedly bils to
cOlllply with ally provision of the Act or any rule, reglilalioll. or order issued by the Commission. shall be
liable 10 the United States for a forfeiture penalty.Hll Section 50J(b)(2)(B) of the Act nuthorizes (he
COlJlmission to aSiess a forreiture of tip to $) 30.000 for each violation or each day of <l continuing

9~ 47 C.F.R. § 52.17(a}. In particular. contributions to surpOI1 numbering administr<nioll are based upon a carrier's
el1d~user tclccomml·nicatiolls revenues for the I'rior calelluar ~'ear and a contribution faclor determined <lnnually hy
the Chiefofthe \Virdinc Competition Btlrc<lU. but ill 110 even! \Viii be less than $25. NANP administration
contributions arc due all an annual basis. \vith cCI1ail1 C\CCptiOllS.

4.' Email from Heat~.er Bambrough. Welch and Company. 10 Elizaneth Mum;]w, Investigations Jild Heitl-illgs
Division. July 17.2007.

% 47 C.F.R. 52.32(a).

'), /.()J Respol1se at E.\h. 7. The NANf) Adlllillistr(Hor confirms (his record of non-compliance. s(}~· Emuil from
Ahita Vessali, Neustar.lo Elizabeth Mumaw. Investigations and 1-I~aril1g.s Division, July 19.2007.

')H Email from Ahittl Vessali, Neuslar. 10 Elizabelh Mumaw. Investigations (Inc! Hearings Division, FCC. .I\11y 23.
2007

9'l5 (,l.' 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.1154. 1.1157(b)(l). Regulatory fees are paid in arrears tor the previolls calendar yenr.

I(HI LOJ Rf"'.rpollse at 7 inquiry II.

'"' 47 USc. § S03(b)( I)(B): 47 c.r.R. § 1.80(,)(").
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violation~ lip to a ~.tatlltory max illlllrn or $1.325.000 for a single act or failure to act. HP J n determining tlJ~
appropriate forfeiture amount. we consider the factors ellumerated in sectioll S03(b)(2)(E) of the Act.
including ·'the natlJre, circumstances. extellt and gravity afthe violation. and. with respecl to the violator.
the degree of culp,:lbility. any history of prior offenses. ability to pay. and such otller matters asjustice
may reqllire:'I0~

28. We nole that although Compass has been providing telecommunications service since at
least 2005. il failed to file FCC Form 499 Worksheets ulltil September 7. 2007. A carrier's obJigalioll to
file these \Vorkslwcts is directly linked to, <lnd thus has serious implications for. administration or the;:
USF. TRS, NANF', LNP and regulatOl)' fee programs. 8y failing to report its revenue. Compass has
avoided making full payment into these programs and has unilaterally shined to compliant carriers alld
their customers th~ economic costs associnted with the programs.

29. Carnpass should have filed Worksheets when it first began providing telecollllllunications
service in the United States. Although the Worksheets were due on specific dates, Compass' failure to
report revenue had a continued. harmful impact 011 various programs because the relevant fund
administrators could not assess Compass· payment obligations. Based on this conclusion. we therefore
reconsider our previous position. as stated in the Globcom FOIfeUuJ't! Order. that the statute of limitations
tinder section 503(b)(2)(B) bars a forfeiture for the failure to tile a Worksheet more than one year heyond
the tiling deadline. IO

-I Rflthcr. Compass' failures to file cOllsthute continuing violatiollS for which the
statuh: of limitations for forfeiture is tolled untillhc \'iolntioll is cured. Bt:cause of our previous position.
l1owcver. \\'c cxerdse our prosecutoria] discretion here and decline to propose forfcilllrcs for Compass'
failures to file Wcrksheets more than one year prior 10 the date orthe NAL. We caution Compass and
other carriers that future enforcement actions may consider all failures to file Worksheets as continuing
violations subject to forfeiture action,

30. Based on the facts above. Compass apparently has cOllsistcnt\y rail~d to Illa~c timely and
rull payments to the USF in 2005. 2006 and into 2007. Nonpayment ofulliversal service contributions is
an l:gr~giolls oncnse that bestows 011 ddill{lllCIH carriers an unfair competitive advantage by shirting to
compliant cnrriers the economic costs and burdens 2ssociated with universal service. A carrier's failure to
make required univers~J1 service contributions hampers realization of Congress' policy objective ill section
254(d) orllle Act to ensure the equitable and nOli-discriminatory distrihutioll ofunivcrsal service costs
among. all telecolTllllunications providcrs.w~

31. Gellerally~ the Commission IHlS established [! base forfeilllrc amount of$iO.OOO or
$20.000 for cach month in which a CorriN ha~ l~tiled to fully pay required universal service
contributiolls. IM' plll~ all upward adj usll1lcnl based 011 ollc-h,lI f of the cOllipallY'S <lpprox illl<1tc unpaid

10: 47 tJ.S.c. § 503(b)(2){B): see also 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(h}(2J: ,H'C also Amendmenf a/Seer/oil UI()(h) ofJJlt'
COnllllis.'iio/l·s Rille:•. Order. )9 FCC Red 109,15 (2004).

'OJ 47 USC, 503(h)(2)1E}.

lW GI(lhcom FOIfeit/lre Order. 21 t='CC Red (It 472 J 11.83 ("I Vile inlposed <In <ldmonishmen" f<llher than a proposed
torfeiture regarding fhc [Globcom's failure to filt: its Yenr) 2000 revenue inri.mnalion bccRuse the slnlUle of
limitations lor a forfeilure action hud already e1arsed."). See also Glob(.'um No-I L. 18 FCC Rcd al 1C)9()2 11.63
("'Under section 50:i(b)(6) of the Acl and sect ion 1.80(c)(J) of the Commission's rules. the stalute of lill1it,Hions for
this violation [the faillnc 10 file an annual \\'orksheet! is Olle year.").

IO~ .<"r:e 47 U.S.c. § 254(d).

106 SrI.: ()CMC. f/lc., Order of Forfeiture, 21 fCC Red IO~79. 10481. ~ 10 (2006) ("OCMe Frl/feillln: Urder"):
(i/ohcolII HAL. 18 FCC Red at 19903·19904. '-;"ij25-27: G'lobcolJI FO/lei/ure Order, 21 fCC Red at ~7:21,4714, ~ 31·
38.
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contributions,IC7 Although we have stated that each failure 10 make a full monthly payment to the usr­
consriwtes a separate! continuing violation ulltil the carrier pays its outstanding contributions.

lna
\vc have

not sought to propose forfeitures all that basis. Instead. we have proposed forfeitures based solely on
violations that hegan ill the previous twelve month period. We have placed carriers all notice, however,
that they face potciltialliability of as lllllch as the statutory Ilwximlitn for each continuing violation of our
USF contribution requirements. IQq Most recently. in the GlobcolJI FOIfeilurt! Order, we warned lhat "if
the forfeiture methodology described herein is not adequate to deter violations of our USF and TRS rules.
our statutory autlwrity pennits the imposition ofilluch larger penalties and we \l,'ill not hesitate to impose
thcm.'olill Based on the facts of this case. n$ well as the acculllulating record of Iloll-compl iallce l>y other

carriers. we find that it is now approprintc 10 impose Such penalties.

32. Clearly. our previous forfeiture ca1ctilatioll methodology hns 1101 deterred companies
frolll <lltcmptillg 10 avoid universal service contributions, The Commission has imposed increasingly
larger forfeitures for USF violatiolls because orthe scope and scale of violations in rhis area.

llI
Since

January 1.2006. the Commission has issued orders regarding. more thull $3.15 million ill proposed ,
forfejturcs and voluntary contributiolls for the Ilonpaylnent of contributions to USf and other rrograllls.

ll
-

107 .(lee. e.g., ClobcOfJI F011eil1lre Order. 21 FCC Red <It 4122, ~133; OCMC Fm:(eillfre Order, 21 FCC Red al 10482.
'J 10. For similar rC:lsons. we also apply an upv,/ard ad,iustnll:llt for TRS payments based on halfofa company" 5
unpaid cOlltribution~;. Globcol1l NAL, 18 FCC Red at ]9901-19904. ~;'125-27.

WE Glnhcol1l Forfeinfre Order. 21 FCC Red 4723 f135.

I,;<} Sec, t.'.g., GlohcolII ForJdlll"" Order. 21 FCC Red al 4723.•,; 35 (stating under the then-applicable maximum
rorrcillirc amount "the carrier had full notice unJcr the APA that the maximum potential forfeitUfe for c(1I.:h violatic)[l
could be as high as :~1.200,OOO'·) (emphnsis in original).

110 Id. at 4724. ~ 38.

HI See, e,g. id. a[ 4'723-24,'~36-37.

ll~ ,')'(;1,;' e,g. Tellis C:JlJIlIIlIJlh.-atiolls. fllc" Order. 22 FCC Red 17251 (2007) (order adopting i1 Consent Decree in
which the carrier agreed to make a vo]unrary cOlltribution to thL' lJnited Stotes Treasury ill the "l1lount ofS450.000):
h:ri:IJ/I Business Giuhat LLC.f!k/a Mel. LLC. Ol'de:-,]2 rcc Red 11097 C~007) (mdcr adopting a Consent Decrce in
which tile calTier agreed 10 make a voluntary cOillribut;oll10 Ihc Unitcd St<ltes Tn::asury in the amount ofS500.000);
Carrl'ra CO/1//1/l/llic,:l/irm LP. Order of Forfeilure. 22 FCC Red 9585 (2007) (imposing a t34S.900 forleiture lor.
infer olia. t'<:liling. to make required universal service cDlmibulions); Tddronh·.I', Ille.• Order. 22 FCC Red 868 I
(007) (Tele!rOllics CO/lSel1l Decree) (order adootiu!!. <I Consellt Decree ill which the carrier il!.!.reed to make a VOltlnlJry
contribution 10 the United Slates Treasury in the' <llll~L1nl ofS250.000): !"Phollic. /I1C.. Order~)r Forfeiture und Further
Notice or Apparenl Liability for Forfeiture. 22 FCC Rcd 8639 (2007) (proposing a new forfeiture' orSIOO.OOO as
part ufthe Further Notice a/Apparell! Uahfli'.l,/rw Fo//i!illlJ"C for apparent violrJliol1s orllle Act and the
Commission'::; rules): Il1lelecoJlJ Solulions, Inc.. Ordel·. 21 FCC Red I:un (2006) (order adopting. <l COrlsent l)eclt:>c

in which lh~ carrier agreed to make a voillowr)' cOlltribution to the United Stales Treasury in the alllount of
::b 150.000); Telecom /lollse, IIIC., Order. 21 FCC Rcd 10833 (1006) (order adopting a Consent Decree ill which th~

carrier i!greed to m~.ke a volulltarycontributiot110 tile United Stales Treasury in the amount of$ I70,000):
C(JlIlIiJIIllic(/liOIl Sen'fL'es Il1legraled. 1m.'.. Order. 21 FCC Red 10<162 (2006) (order adopting II Consent Decree in
which the cilrrier ngreed to make a voluiltary contribution to the United Srates Trc:mlry in the amounl ofS250.000):
/,0(.",,1 Pholle: .':;c:J'l'icl:s 1m:., Notice of Apparellt Liability for Forfeiture. 21 FCC Red 9974 (2006) (proposing
fOlfclturc ofS529.000 for apparent violations of USF rtlillel1 requirements): FPL FiberNd, LU', Order. 1: t FCC
Reu 8530 (2006) (order adopting a Consenl Dt;{'"l"~~ ill whicl1the c<lrTier agreed 10 llltlke a voluntary contributiolllO
lhe United States Treasury in the amoum of$1 ~O.OOO): Clm!' World Coml/1unicaliolls Corp .. Order. 11 FCC Red
5.304 (2006) (order adopting a Consent Decree ill which the cilTricr agreed \0 make a voluntary contribution 10 the
United States Treasury ill the amount of 5290.000),
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DespilC that agg.ressive enforcement. nonpayment into those programs n:llltlins a serious concern as
demands on the USF havc increased.ll_~

33. Accordingly. COl1sistelll with our previolls statements thatnollpayl1lent ofLJSF. TRS. and
other obligations constitute continuing violnlil1ns. and tll dTct.:lively deter companies like Compass from
violating our rules governing payment into the USF. TRS. and other programs. our forfeiture c;l1clllntioll~

will reflect not only the violations that began within the last twcl\'c months. but tlll such continuillg
violations. By including such violations in our forfeiture ea1cukltions. our enforcement actions now will
provide incrcOlscd deterrem:e and bettcr rellee! lhe 1'1111 scorc of the miseollducl comrnit1ed. As ill
previolls orders. we warn carriers that if the forfeiture calculation methodology descrihed herc docs not
adequately deter violations of our rules. we will consider larger penalties within the scope of our
authority, includillg substantially higher forfeitures and rC\'OC<lt ion of carriers' operating authority. I 1J

34. Applyil1g this methodology to the instant case. we find that Compass is app<lrclItly liable
I'm 22 cOlltinuing '~,iolatiolls for failure to make timely and full monthly payments to the usr. lJ5 We
propose a $20.000 base amount for each orlh..: 22 months ill which Compass failed to rcmil allY
cOlltributiolllo\\'ard its outstanding. USF obligiltiOll. Thlls. we filld Compass apparently liahle for a base
forfeiture of $440.000 for its willful or repented failure to contribute fully and timely to the USF on 22
occasions between May 2005 and Decemher 2005 as well ns bct\\'een JnnU<.If)' 2006 and December 2006
and again in JaIH12ry and March 2007. Consistcnt with our appronch for t1sscssing liability ltlr apparent
USF viol'lIinns. and taking into nccount all (he I'actors enumcrated in section SOJ(b)(2)(E) of the Act. we
;llso propose an up\...ard adjustlllent of $79.503. appr0ximalcly olle~half ofCompnss l untimely paid USF
contributions, to our prorosed hase forteiHlrc.lJ(, We therefore issue a total proposed forfeiture of
$519,503 against Compass for its apparent wi llftll or repented f~ilures to cOlltribute fully and tirncly to the
tJSF. 1l7

35. \\,'e also find that Compass has railed to lllake timely TRS contributions in 2005, 2006
Jnd 2007."~ \Vhen.: a cnrricr fails to satisfy its TRS obligations for an e\tcnded period oftirnc, if thwarts
(he purpose for which Congress cst<lblished section ::'25(b)( I) of tile Act and its implementing regulations

I I.' ,<,'ee, e,~", lIi:sh.COS, Universal Sen";ce SII!)P0rl: F<:derul-.Sfl/tt: .Ioil" Board on Uitin!l",wl St:!"I'h:e. Jj'(' Docket No.
05-337. CC Ducket No. 96--15, Notice ofProP05~d RlIleTllClking. 22 FCC Red 9705 t2007) (seeking COllllllent on
Fedenll-S1<l1t: JOlnl Board's recommendation thill lhe Commission lake immediate action regarding incre<tsing
demand lor USF !l1e,nit's for high-cosl support): \Vrillt'n Statement of The HOllor,lblc Kevin J. Martin. Chairman.
FcJel'al Comlllullic<Jlions Comlllission. Before (he COlHnlittee on COIl1Jntrce, Science &. Trunsport'llion. U.S.
Senate, Fennlnry :. ::Jom fl[ 7 {describing incrcasing pn:5sure 011 the stability or the USF oue to "lc]hangcs in
(echnology and incr::ascs in Ihe number of carrlNs who arc receiving universal servicc suppon'·).

I I~ See Glohcom Fo./eiwre Order. 21 FCC Rcd tit ,17~.:l.. ' ]X & IL I05.

II~ Seeslipro para, ~2.

11(, In light or our dl.'l~rrnillillion here thnt COlllpass' Sl'fvicts are telecomlllunications services <lnd concerns with the
accuracy or (Ill? recelltly suomitted revised Fori)) <.19\)-As (sec paragnph 9). we are ..:atellialillg the upwanJ
adjustment based or revenlle reported on CompJ.ss' 2(J07 FCC Form 499-A filed March 27. 2007. reporting revenue
realized in 2006. and Compass' 2006 FCC Fortn -t99·A filed Scplcrnher 7, 100(i, reporting 200) rc\'clltlt:. Ifit is
determined that the 'evenue reported on any revised I:OflllS catlses an adjustment to Compass' contrihlliion amount.
\n' will ad,iusl (he ICrfeiillre alllount \}ccordillgly.

I II As noted previously, we could proposr: ,IS Ilwch ilS $1 ,~25,OOO for each cOlllinlling. vioi<Jtioll. Tlnrs, if we
proposed the maximum forfeiture permilled tl11der Ihe Act. Compilss could f<Jce a forfeiture of more tl1~\Il

S34A50.000 for its failures to wntribute to the USf-".

Il~ See LOf Revmme al4 and allachment 7 {sho\'..-s one involcL' dated 11-5-7)
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-- to ensure that telecommunications relay services "are available. to the extent possible and in the tIlosl
efficient manner. to hcarillg~impaired nnd spccch-imp2ired individuals in the United States.'·lIQ

36. The COlllmission has estuhlishcd a base forlcilure <JIIlOllnl of $1 0.000 for each instance ill
\vhich <l carrier fails to make required TRS cOlltributiol1s. 1

?O III light of Compass' failure to timel)' pay its
TRS obligations te,r the 2005. 2006 allJ 2007 fi.lllding periods. we find it apparently liable for a base
forfeiture in the nnlOllnt of $30.000. for the reasons discllssed above rcgmding Compass' failure to make
univl:rsal service conlribuliolls and cOllsistent with Commission precedellL 1cl we find that an upward
adjustment in an 3mount of approximately one half of the carrier's estimated unpnid TKS contributions
(approximately $4.38.340.89) is appropriate for Compass' npparent failure to make TRS contributions.
Tnking into account the f:lctorS enumerated in section 50J(b)(2)(E) or tile Ael. wc conclude that a
$:219.110.44 upwa,d adjustment is reasollahlc. Consequently. we find COlTlpass is liable for a total
proposed forfeiture or $249.11 0.44 for ils willftll and repealed failme to satisfy its TRS obligations for Ilic
2005.2006 and 2007 lilllding periods.

37. We iJlSlJ l:onclude that Compass apparently failed to make timely contributions toward
NANP administration ;:lIld LNP cost recovery mechanisms on the oasis of its actual cnd-user
tclecollllllunicalions revenueS since 2005. For the same reasons thai failures to make USF and TRS
cOlltributions are clllltinuing violations. we Ii lid the failure to make NANP adll1inislralion and LNP
contributions to be continuing violations until they are cured by payment of all monies due. As with
universal service and TRS. the failure of carriers to make required NANP administration and LNP
(,;ontributions f(Jr an extended period oftilllL' severely hampers the Commission's ability to ensure that the
cost of establishing telecommunications Ilumbering administration arrangements is '·borne by all
telecoJ11l11unications carriers 011 a competitively Ileutral basis" as Congress elivisiont:J.12~ Conscquently.
and consistent wilh prcccdcnt.1]J we find tllat Compass is apparently li'lble for the base forfeiture of
$20.000 for failing to timely pay contributions loy.,'-ard NANP <ldlllinistration cost rccnVCI)' Illcch:1Jlisllls
for 2005 and 2006 12-1 With respect to Compass' failure to make its LNP contributions. we tind that this

violation is sufficiently analogous to the failure to pay NANP administration contribulions and estahlish
the !laille base forfl;iturc alllount -- $10,000. Accordingly. we find that Compass is :.lpp'Henlly liable for;"\
lorlciturc ofS20.000 for failing to timely pay LNP cOniribllliolls for 2005 and 2006.

38. Finally. \-ve- conclude that COlllpass has apparently failed to make allY regulato!}' fcc
payments to the COlllmission in :2005 or 2006. A carrier"!I L1ilurc to contribute IOwaI'd the costs orccrtail1
regulatory activities from which it benelits lllldel"Jl1ines the efficiency. equitabilily, (l1lc! effectiveness of
the regulatory ke program and accomplishment of Congress' objectives in section 9(a)( I) of the Act. As
with failllre to Ina~c universal service. TRS. NANP adlllilllslr,ltioll and LNP cOnlributions. we find
failures to make re~tllalory fee payments tn he cOlllilillillg urllillhey are cured h:y lilt: payment orall
monies owed. In reCClll orders. the COlllmissioll has established a base forfeit lire amount of$IO.OOO for

11') ... 7 U.S.C. ~ !25(b){ I l.

12(' S!:I..' Glubcolll N,-n. 1S FCC Red at 19904. 1i 29.

I~I 5iel' supra parJ. 31.

1~2 47 U.S.c. § 151(L')(?).

1!,1 .\·L'C c.g_. TddrOIJ,;,·s,IIIc., Notice of Appmcill Liability for ForfeilllFe and Order. 20 FCC I{cd 1.3291. 13303.~: 3:­
(2005) ("["('Ie/rollin N,·/ L) (finding. thallile carrier was ilpparently liable for (] forfeiture of $1 0.000 for the <:arric(s
failure lo rllJ)..;e ils NANP ;Jtlil1illistration conlriblllion).

12J Id.
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failure 10 timely nl<l.kc required regu!<llory lee pnymcnts for one calendar year. 125 Therefore. we find
Compass apparently liable for a $20.000 lixk:iturc for its app<Jrcl1l violation of sect inns 1.1154 and
1.1 157 of the COI11I11 iss ion 's rules.

IV. ORDERING CLAUSES

39. ACCORDINGLY. IT IS ORDERED THAT. pursuant to section 503(h) of the
COllllllunications J\ct of [934. as amended. 47 U.S.C. § 503(b). and section 1.80 of the COlllmission's
rules. 47 C.F.R. § 1.80. that Compass Global. Inc. is hereby NOTIFIED of its APPARENT LIABILITY
FOR A FORFEITURE ill the amount of$828.61 J.4.:t for willfully and repeatedly violating the Act and
the Commission's rules.

40. [T IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT. pursuanllo sectioll 1.80 of the Commission's
Rules."" within thirty dnys afthe release date afthis NOTICE OF APPARENT L1AIJILITY. Compass
Global. Inc. SHALL PAY the fuJI amount of the propcsed forfeiture or SHAl.L FILE a wrillen slalement
seeking reduction I)r cancellation of the proposed forfeiture.

41. Payment of the forfeiture Illust be made by' eheck or similar ;lIstrumclll. payable to the
order 01" the feJer,d Coml1lunications Commissioll. The payment lllust include the NA LIAccount
Number and FRN Number referenced "bove. Payment by check or money order llla)' be mailed to
Federal Communicalions Commission. P.O. Box 979088. St. Louis. MO 63197-9000. P,rymcnt by
overnight mail mil:" be sent to U.S. Bal1k - Government Loc\';box #979088. SL-MO-C2-GL. 100S
Convention Plaza. 51. Louis. MO 6310 I. PfI)'lllt:llt(S} by wire tr<Jl1srcr may be made to ABA Number
021030004. receiving bank TREA5INYC. and account numher 2700000 I. For payment by credit c<lrd.
an FCC Form 15t;) (Remittance Advice) Illusl he sublllitted. When compleling the FCC Form 159. enter
lhe NA U Accoullt llumber in block 1ll1111ber 231\ (call sign/olher ID). and enter the Ic(\crs 'TORF" in
bloc\.; Ilumber 241\ (payment type code). Rctluesls for full paymcnt under an installment plan should be
scnt (0: Chief Fillnncial Officcr-- Finanekd Operations. 445 12th Street. S.W.• Room I-A625.
Washington. D.C. 20554. Please contact the Finnncial Operations Grollp Help Desk al 1-877-480-320 I
or Email: ARINOUIRIES@fcc.lW,·with ,lilY questions regarding payment procedures.

42. The response. ifany. tn this. NOTICr: OF APPARENT LIABILITY 11lllSl be mailcd In

llilklry S. DeNigw. Chief. Investigations <llltl Ikarings Division. Enforcement l3urcill1, Ft:deral
CUlllllll1nicmiolls COlllmission. 445 I~II' Sln:ct. S.W.. ROOlll<-\-CJ30. Washington. D.C. 20554 <Jnd Illust
include the NALl/\cct. No. referenced above. A response should also be sent via elllai[ to
Uj!J~',J)~ ~ igrt}{{12lCc.~.

43. The Commission will not cOllsider reducing or canceling a forteitun: in response to a
claim of ill;Jbility I,} p:1Y unless the petilioller suhmits: (I) fc-deral tax retUnlS for the most recentlhn.:e­
year period: (2) financial slatemellts prepa[ed nccordillg 10 generally accepted accoulltillg. pradiccs
(jAAP): or (3) SOllle other reliable and objcclivc uoclllllcnllltinil that m:curately rcllecls the pClitiollcr":.;
current fimlncial slalus. Any claim of II\;lbility 10 pny nlust specifically identify the hasis for the claim by
referencc (0 lhc fil1<1l1ci,d Jocllmentalioll sllhlllitted.

I~~SL'(:' Te(eco!ll AftlIIIIRI!IIIl.'nllllc.. Notice of App,m':llt LiahililY lor Forfeiture ,11ld Order.1U FCC Red. l.et.l:i 1. 141:'8
'122 (ret. Aug. 12. 20U5); Tl...'ferrullics. I'le., NOlicc 01" ApP<lrelil Liubility for Fodeiture and Onk1". 20 FCC Red
132<J1. 13304. ~ 36 (rd. Jul. '25. :W05); Carrau CO/1/lIlllllicaliol1s. U). Notice of Apparent l.i;lbiliIY fur Forfeiture
;lnd Order. 10 FCC Red 13307. 13318 ~ 36 (reI. Jul. 15. 1005).

l~r> See 47 CF.R. ~ 1.80.
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44. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED thaI acopy ofllli, NOTICE OF APPARENT I.IAIlII.ITY
FOR FORFEITURE shall be sent by certifkd mail. return receipt requested. to Jonathan S. Marnshlin.
Counsel forColl1f'o:'>s GlobJI,IIll:.. Helie]] and Marashlian. LLC. 1483 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 301,
ivlcLclln. Virginia 22101.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

Marlene H. Donch
Secretary
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u~
Universal Service Administrative Company

Administrator's Decision on Contributor Appeal

By Certified Afail

June 2, 2008

Jonathan S. Marashlian, Esq.
c/o The CommLaw Group
1483 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 301
Mclean, VA 22101

Re: Compa,s Global, lnc. (Filer In #8262161

Dear Mr. Mara,;hlian:

The Universal Service Administrative Company (USAC) has completed its review of the
letter of appeal you submitted on behalf of Compass Global, Inc., dated November 6,
2007 (the Appeal). The Appeal requests USAC's acceptance ofrevised 2005 and 2006
FCC Form 499·A Telecommunications Reporting Worksheets (Form 499-A) reporting
annual revenue for 2004 and 2005.

Summary and Background

The Appeal states that Compass Global filed original 2005 and 2006 Forms 499-A on
September 5, 2006.' Then on September 4, 2007, Compass Global filed what it believed
were downward revisions to the 2005 and 2006 Forms 499-A2 On September 11,2007.
USAC rejected the September 4 submissions because they were not filed "within one
year ofthe original submission[s].,,3 A copy ofthc rejection letters addressing each of
the 2005 and 2006 Forms 499-A are provided in Exhibit I hereto. Compass Global
asserts in the Appeal thaI USAC should have accepted the downward revisions because
they were in fact submitted within one year of the original submissions.

t Appeal, at 1 and].

2 1d. at 2.

3 Lt:Uer from USAC to Compass Global, Inc_ regarding 2005 Foml 499-A Revision Rejection, p. 1
(September 11,20(7) and Letter from USAC to Compass Global, Inc. regarding 2006 F0JD1499~A

Revision Rejection, p. I (September 11. 2007).
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